IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC **3** 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JAMES DICK,

vs.

Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

Case No. 80,219

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JENNIFER Y. FOGLE ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 628204

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813)'534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, James Dick, was the Appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal. The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R" fallowed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Between May 7 and May 28, 1991, the State Attorney of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit in Charlotte County filed four informations charging the Petitioner, James Dick, with burglaries and thefts occurring on April 14, 15, and 16, 1991. The specific charges were as follows:

In trial court case number 91-241, Mr. Dick was charged with burglary of a dwelling contrary to section 810.02, Florida Statutes (1989), and grand theft, contrary to section 812.014, Florida Statutes (1989). (R54-55)

In trial court case numbers 91-294, 91-240, and 91-244, Mr. Dick was charged in each with burglary of a dwelling and petit theft. (R29-30, 38-39, 67-68)

On August 19, 1991, the Petitioner entered a plea of no contest to the charges in exchange for a sentence within the recommended guidelines range and an agreement that no community control would be imposed. (R2-4, 6-7, 11, 42-44) On October 4, 1991, the Honorable Darryl C. Casanueva, Circuit Judge, sentenced the Petitioner in case number 91-241 to thirty months in prison followed by ten years on probation on the charge of burglary of a dwelling, and to a concurrent term of thirty months in prison followed by two years on probation on the charge of grand theft. The Petitioner received 171 days' credit for time served. (R16-19, 60-64)

In case numbers 91-294, 91-240, and 91-244, the court imposed concurrent terms of ten years on probation on the charges of

burglary of a dwelling' and sixty days in jail on the petit theft charges. (R19-23, 34-36, 47-51, 72-75) Mr. Dick's guideline scoresheet, to which no objection was made, recommended a sanction of twelve to thirty months in prison. (R12, 33)

Defense counsel objected to the sentences imposed in case numbers 91-294, 91-240, and 91-244 on the basis they were not consistent with the requirements of the sentencing guidelines, and precluded the receipt of credit for time served. (R23-24)

On all probationary terms the court imposed as special conditions of probation: (1) the prohibition against the Petitioner being in any place that offers for use, sale, or distribution any controlled substance as defined by Chapter 893 as it reads or is amended to read; and (2) the prohibition against the Petitioner drinking more than two beers or two ounces of alcohol a day or requiring total abstinence from alcohol if his probation officer deems it necessary. (R16, 18-21)

Defense counsel timely filed notice of appeal on October 18, 1991. (R76-78) On appeal Mr. Dick argued that the court's sentencing scheme was contrary to the intent of the guidelines and that the conditions of probation were impermissible. The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence on June 26, 1992, on

^{&#}x27;These sentences actually fell within the permitted and not the recommended range.

the basis of <u>State v. Tripp</u>, 591 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Supreme Court Case # 79,176), which contains the following certified question:

IF A TRIAL COURT IMPOSES A TERM OF PROBATION CONSECUTIVE TO A SENTENCE OF INCARCERATION ON ANOTHER OFFENSE, CAN JAIL CREDIT FROM THE FIRST OFFENSE BE DENIED ON A SENTENCE IMPOSED AFTER THE REVOCATION OF PROBATION ON THE SECOND OFFENSE?

The Second District also declined to address the conditions of probation on the basis no objection was made at sentencing.

This court accepted jurisdiction of petitioner's cause by order dated November 4, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's sentence is contrary to the intent of the sentencing guidelines, This Court's rulings in State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), Lambert v. State, 545 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1989), and Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988), support a holding that the certified question posed in Tripp v. State, 591 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), iurisdiction accepted, Tripp v. State, (Case No. 79,1761, should be answered in the negative and the sentencing scheme here should be prohibited.

Appellant's conditions of probation relating to frequenting areas where drugs might be used and consuming alcohol are illegal and must be stricken.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT?

The Petitioner, James Dick, challenges the imposition of probation as the only sanction imposed on burglary charges in trial court case numbers 91-294, 91-240, and 91-244, because the sanction violates the intent of the sentencing guidelines. Additionally, he challenges as illegal certain conditions of probation imposed in all four of his cases,

As to the first contention, trial counsel objected to the imposition of probation as the only sanction imposed in three cases because he believed the court was attempting to circumvent the guidelines. Specifically, counsel argued that the sanction would preclude the receipt of credit for time served if Mr. Dick should be violated on his probation in case numbers 91-294, 91-240, and 91-244. To be consistent with the intent of the guidelines, Mr. Dick should be given the thirty months in prison followed by probation on these cases in the same way he was sentenced in his other case, number 91-241. (R23-24)

As noted in <u>State v. Tripp</u>, 591 **So.** 2d 1055 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, Tripp v. <u>State</u>, (Case No. 79,176), the sentencing method used here allows trial courts to greatly exceed the incarceration contemplated by the guidelines and <u>Lambert v. State</u>, 545 So.2d **838** (Fla. 1989) upon a single violation of probation. <u>Tripp</u>, at 1057 and n.3, <u>citing Sylvester v. State</u>, 572

So. 2d 947 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), and Ford v. State, 572 So. 2d 946 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Although in <u>Trim</u> the appellate court struck as improper the award of jail credit for time served on a separate conviction, it questioned the propriety of this type of sentencing method under <u>Lambert</u>, <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), and <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988).

To give effect to the sentencing guidelines, all sentences imposed on the same day and pending for sentencing should be considered together rather than separately using one scoresheet to cover all offenses. Clark v. State, 572 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 1991); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 d. 1. The recommended sentences provided in the guideline grids are assumed to be appropriate for the composite score of the offender. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 d. 8. The purpose behind the sentencing guidelines is to "establish a uniform set of standards" and to "eliminate unwarranted variation in the sentencing process." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701 b.

To permit a trial court to initially impose a sentence on one pending case which meets the maximum recommended incarcerative sentence under the guidelines and impose probation only on other pending cases allows a court, upon violation of probation, to impose a sentence again meeting the maximum incarceration under the guidelines without awarding credit for time served. Under the sentencing method employed in this case, the Petitioner could be violated on probation and be sentenced to prison with the bump-up on one case and without credit for time served, and be given probation again on the other cases. Subsequent revocations of

probation could result in successive prison sentences which would reach far beyond the original recommended sentence and permissible bump.

This is contrary to the integrity of the guidelines and defeats the purpose of uniformity in sentencing. As noted in Lambert, 545 so. 2d at 838, during simultaneous sentencing a single scoresheet must be used for all offenses pending before the court and the calculation results in a presumptive sentence for all offenses disposed of under the scoresheet. Multicell departures based on probation violation are contrary to the spirit and intent of the guidelines, which is to establish uniformity in sentencing. Lambert, at 842.

Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161, 165 (Fla. 1988), addresses the function of probation revocation under the guidelines and the policies for limitation upon revocation. Upon a revocation of probation a sentencing court may impose any sentence up to the maximum for which the defendant stands convicted, subject to credit for time served and within the recommended guidelines range. Although Poore involved one single-count information, and a true split sentence, it's principle -- cumulative incarceration imposed after violation of probation is always subject to any limitations imposed by the sentencing guidelines recommendation -- should be applied here in concert with the teachings of Larnbert.

In <u>Fullwood v. State</u>, 558 **So.** 2d 168, 169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), the defendant originally received ten years on probation on Count I, five years on probation on count II, and three years on

probation with a special condition that he serve 24 months in prison on count III. Fullwood later admitted to violating his probation. His recommended guidelines sentence, with the permitted one-cell increase for the violation, was two-and-one-half to three-and-one-half years in prison, The court increased probation on count 1 to 12 years, revoked probation on count II and imposed a sentence of 22 or 24 months in prison, and let stand the three year probationary term on count 111.

The <u>Fullwood</u> court held that the combined sentences of incarceration for counts II and 111, past and present, exceeded the guidelines range:

Since the guidelines require a sentence as to each offense and also require that the total sentence not exceed the guidelines range, count III should have been considered in determining Fullwood's total sentence even though probation as to count III was not revoked. In other words, the offenses from one scoresheet must be treated in relation $t\,o$ each other.

<u>Fullwood</u>, at 170, <u>citing</u>, Fla. R. Crim P. 3.701(d) (12); <u>Kirtsey v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 553 So. 2d 395 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). 2

In <u>Tripp</u>, 591 **So**. 2d at 1056, the Second District's reliance on <u>State v. Perko</u>, 588 **So**. 2d 980 (Fla. 1991) (credit for time served on a previous charge should not be awarded on a wholly new charge) and <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 491 **So**. 2d 545 (Fla. 1986) (jail credit cannot be pyramided for consecutive sentences on multiple charges) is misplaced. Petitioner's case involves charges that were pending for sentencing at the same time under one guidelines

² <u>Contra</u>, <u>Sylvester v.</u> State, 572 **So**. **2d 947** (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

presumptive sentence. The charges are based on the same set of facts which resulted in the original incarcerative portion of his sentence **as** recommended by the guidelines. Any revocation should reach back to the original sentence and require application of credit for time served under <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 **So.** 2d 925 (Fla. 1989).

If the sentencing scheme imposed here is sanctioned, the result is a circumvention of the sentencing guidelines, allowing for imprisonment far beyond the guidelines range if the defendant is violated on his probation. Under the policies and authorities cited, this Court is asked to answer the question certified in Tripp in the negative, hold the sentence in the instant case improper, and remand for xesentencing.

Additionally, Petitioner contends that conditions of his probation are illegal.³ The trial court, as a special condition of probation, stated that Mr. Dick is not to be in any place that offers for use, sale, or distribution any controlled substance. It also imposed the special condition of probation that Mr. Dick is not to have more than two beers or two ounces of alcohol per day, or that he must totally abstain from alcohol if his probation officer deems it necessary. (R16, 18-21)

Rodriquez v. State, 378 So.2d 7, 9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), sets forth the criteria for determining whether a condition of probation

³ No objection was made to the conditions of probation; however, the contemporaneous objection rule is not applicable to the imposition of illegal conditions of probation. <u>Larson v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1991).

is invalid. A condition is invalid if it, "(1) has no relationship to the crime for which the offender was convicted, (2) relates to conduct which is not in itself criminal, and (3) requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality."

In Huff v. State, **554 so.** 2d **616**, 617 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), conditions prohibiting association with persons who use alcohol or frequenting places where alcohol or drugs were used bore no relationship to the crime of burglary, were not reasonably tailored to prevent future criminal conduct by the defendant, were too vague, and were invalid. In Edmunds v. State, **559** So.2d **415** (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), conditions pertaining to the consumption or possession of alcohol were also invalid. The conditions here, as in **Huff** and Edmunds, should be stricken **as** illegal or as constituting fundamental error.

Further, the condition ordering Mr. Dick not to frequent places where any controlled substance under Chapter 893 is used, sold, or distributed, is too vague. It is impossible for Mr. Dick to know who is engaged in the illegal use of drugs, or which areas are the site of drug activity, See Pratt v. State, 516 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). The condition pertaining to alcohol consumption and giving the probation officer authority to curtail the use of alcohol also violates the principle that the court cannot delegate impermissible authority to a probation officer. See Denson v. State, 493 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1986).

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse and remand his case for resentencing.