097

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

DEC 2 1799

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Chilef Deputy Clerk

JAMES DICK,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 80,219

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY A. QUINCE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar  $N_0$ . 261041

DONNA A. PROVONSHA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0768979
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent agrees with the statement of the case and facst as stated by Petitioner.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When a Defendant is sentenced to straight prison time on one count and consecutive probation on another count, he is not entitled to credit for the time served on the 1st count when he is sentenced on the 2nd count after violating his probation because such a sentence is not a split sentence.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

IF A TRIAL COURT IMPOSES A TERM OF PROBATION CONSECUTIVE TO A SENTENCE OF INCARCERATION ON ANOTHER OFFENSE, CAN JAIL CREDIT FROM THE FIRST OFFENSE BE DENIED ON A SENTENCE IMPOSED AFTER REVOCATION OF PROBATION ON THE SECOND OFFENSE.

when a Defendant, is charged with committing multiple crimes and is sentenced to straight prison time on one count and consecutive probation on another count, he is not entitled to credit for the time served on the 1st count when he is sentenced on the 2nd count after violating his probation because such a sentence is not a split sentence. In the instant case, Petitioner pled guilty to burglary and grand theft. The guidelines called for up to 4½ years in Florida State Prison, (FSP - Petitioner was sentenced as follows:

- 1. burglary---4 years FSP
- 2. grand theft---4 years probation

consecutive to FSP in count I.

After 10 months, Petitioner had served his 4 year sentence for burglary and began serving his 4 years of probation. He subsequently admitted to violating his probation, and it was revoked. At the revocation hearing, the guidelines called for up to 4½ years in prison.' The trial court believed it was bound to credit Petitioner with the 4 years "served" on the burglary, and

Neither party nor the trial court considered the use of the one cell bump for sentencing after violating probation.

sentenced Petitioner on the grand theft to 45 years with credit for the 4 years served on the separate offense of burglary. On appeal by the State, the 2nd District reversed finding Petitioner was not entitled to credit when being sentenced after revocation of his probation on the grand theft for the 4 years he served on the burglary. The 2nd District was correct in this holding. To do otherwise would be to reward Petitioner for violating hi5 probation. Under Petitioner's analysis, trial courts could no longer enforce probation. Probationers could terminate probation at will by violating it and serving either no time or minimal time incarceration. As this Court stated in State\_v. Perko, 588 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1991), "... the opinion of the district court resulted in Perko being rewarded with a seduced sentence on the new drug offense solely because he previously had committed a grand theft." Perko at 982. Though Perko is not directly on point, it supports the District Court's holding that a defendant does not get credit for time served on one count when he subsequently violates his probation on another count and receives a prison sentence on that count.

Perko was sentenced to imprisonment followed by probation for grand theft auto. After his release from prison he committed a new drug offense thereby violating his probation. At sentencing for the new drug offense, Perko sought credit for the time served and gain time accrued on the grand theft auto. The trial court

Perko would have been entitled to credit for time served on the grand theft auto when being sentenced for the grand theft auto after violating his probation on that charge.

declined to award this credit but the 4th District reversed. This Court reversed finding the District Court's reliance upon State v. Green, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989), 3 and Daniels v. State, 491 So.2d 543 (Fla 1986), in awarding Perko the credit, was misplaced. This Court explained that in Green it held only that "when sentencing for the violation of probation, (in Perko the grand theft auto; in the instant case, the grand theft; in Green, the attempted sexual battery), the trial court must give the defendant credit for time served and gain-time accrued during any earlier imprisonment for the offense underlying the violation of probation. " (In Perko, this would be the original imprisonment "served" an the grand theft; in the instant case, it would be any original imprisonment served on the grand theft, which there was none; in Green, it was the original 45 years "served" on the attempted sexual battery.) This Court held that when a defendant has violated probation by committing a new offense, the sentence for that **new** offense should not include credit for time served

In <u>State v. Green</u>, 547 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1989), Green pled no contest to 2 counts of attempted sexual battery and was sentenced as follows:

<sup>1.</sup> att sex batt---4 FSP followed by 3 yrs prob;
2. att sex batt---4 FSP followed by 3 yrs prob;

When sentenced, Green received credit for jail time spent awaiting sentencing of 287 days. Green served his 4½ year prison term in 518 days because of gain time. Once Green was released from prison he began his 3 years probation which was subsequently revoked. Green was sentenced to 7 years FSP after revocation with credit far the 287 days jail time and the 518 days actually previously served. He did not receive the gain time accrued on his 4½ year prison term. This Court held that Green was entitled to "credit earned gain-time against the new sentence imposed for probation violation." Green at 926.

and gain-time accumulated while the defendant was incarcerated for the earlier offense that underlay the order of probation, Just as Perko was not entitled to credit for the time served on the grand theft auto when he was sentenced for the drug offense, Tripp is not entitled to credit for the time served on the burglary when being sentenced for the grand theft. Respondent has not overlooked the fact that at issue in <a href="Ferko">Ferko</a> was Perko's being sentenced on the new crime, the drug offense. Tripp's sentence on the new crimes of trespass and the new burglary are not at issue in this case. However, presumably <a href="Perko">Perko</a> was sentenced for all pending charges, including the new drug offense, under a single scoresheet yet this Court held Perko did not get credit for time served on one crime in the sentencing of another distinct crime. The same analysis applies to the instant case.

As set out in the 2nd District's opinion, the 4th and 5th District's have similarly held that Defendants are not entitled to credit for time served in these types of cases. Though finding Tripp was not entitled to credit for time served on the burglary when he was sentenced on the grand theft after his probation was revoked, the 2nd District certified the above question to this Court because of its concern that its decision may conflict with the spirit of the sentencing guidelines and the

See Sylvester v. State, 572 So.2d 947 (Fla. 5DCA 1990); Ford v. State, 572 So.2d 946 (Fla. 5DCA 1990); State v. Folsom, 552 So.2d 1194 (Fla. SDCA 1989); State v. Rodgers, 540 So.2d 872 (Fla. 4DCA 1989); But see Fullwood v. State, 558 So.2d 168 (Fla. 5DCA 1990).

limitations imposed in Lambert v. State, 545 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1989), and Green. The District Court was also concerned its decision could lead to abusive sentencing practices. 5

Since Green involves a split sentence, the instant opinion by the 2nd District does not offend Green. As to the concerns about Lambert and abusive sentencing practices, this Court's recent opinion in Williams v. State 17 HW S81 (Fla. February 6, 1992), gives guidance on the instant issue. In Williams, this Court held that multiple violations of probation was no longer a valid basis for departure from the sentencing guidelines but that a trial court could depart one cell for every violation. This opinion maintains the spirit of the sentencing guidelines of uniformity in sentencing while giving trial courts the power to enforce their orders of probation. This Court held:

It is entirely consistent to conclude that where there are multiple violations of probation, the sentence may be successively bumped to one higher cell for each violation. To hold otherwise might discourage judges from giving probationers a second or even a third chance. Moreover, a defendant who has been given two or more chances to stay out of jail may logically expect to be penalized for failing to take advantage of the opportunity.

Williams at 82.

In footnote 3 of the opinion, the District Court posits the case where a Defendant charged in a multiple count information has been sentenced to consecutive terms of probation. If the Defendant violated each of his probations, his resulting sentence could be far beyond the permitted range. This is true. But as discussed later, this Court recently held that a defendant who repeatedly violates his probation should expect an increased sentence.

Applying the principles of Williams to the issue presented in the instant case alleviates the concerns of the District Court about Lambert and abusive sentencing practices. As to Lambert, Williams has explained that Lambert did not address multiple violations of probation. As to the District Court's concern about abusive sentencing practices, the guidelines will apply to each revocation sentencing. It will only be after Defendant has repeatedly violated several different probations that he will 'be subject to successive revocations of probation and successive guidelines sentences. Looking at the hypothetical from Tripp at footnote 3 where a Defendant is sentenced to multiple consecutive probations, (presumably the probations are consecutive to each other and to an initial guidelines prison sentence on count one), when the Defendant violates all his probations by committing a new offense, his new guidelines score will be bumped up one cell. The court can then revoke his probation on all counts and sentence him to the new guidelines sentence on each count concurrently (without credit for the time served on count one), or the court can revoke his probation as to only one count and give him a guidelines sentence on that count (not giving him credit for the time served on count one) and reinstate his probation on the other counts. In either case, Defendant will not have the problem as posed by the District Court of a sentence "far beyond the permitted guidelines range if a defendant violated each of his probations" unless and until he repeatedly violates his probation. If Defendant again violates probation,

the court mey revoke any of the remaining probations and sentence Defendant to the guidelines with the bump for that count. this Court stated in Williams, "a defendant who has been given two or more chances to stay out of jail may logically expect to be penalized for failing to take advantage of the opportunity." Admittedly, as the facts of the instant case show, a Defendant who receives probation consecutive to a prison sentence and who violates that probation can serve more time than a Defendant who receives straight prison time or a probationary split sentence. See Sylvester v. State, 572 So.2d 947 (Fla. 5DCA 1991), "... if a court imposes a straight prison term for one offense followed by a straight probation term for another offense, the application of the sentencing guidelines in resentencing following revocation of probation can lead to a harsher penalty than if split sentences had been imposed originally for each offense." There is nothin gin Green, Lambert or Poore to proscribe such a result.

Poore v. State, 531 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1988), sets out the 5 sentencing alternatives available to trial courts in Florida: 1. confinement 2. a "true split sentence" 3. a "probationary split sentence" 4. a Villery probationary sentence, and 5. straight probation. "In Poore, this Court held "if the defendant violates his probation in alternatives (3), (4), and (5), section 948.06(1) and Pearce permit the sentencing judge to impose any

<sup>6</sup> Villery v. Florida Parole—& Probation Comm'n, 396 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1981).

<sup>7</sup> North Carolina-v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969).

# PAGE(S) MISSING

#### CONCLUSION

For all the reasons cited by the District Court opinion and the cases cited therein, in addition to the reasons set forth by Respondent, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the District Court opinion and answer the certified question in the affirmative.